#### Case No. 80911

#### In the Supreme Court of Nevada

SOUTHWEST GAS CORPORATION,
Appellant,

vs.

PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF NEVADA; and STATE OF NEVADA BUREAU OF CONSUMER PROTECTION,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Jan 26 2021 11:44 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable WILLIAM KEPHART, District Judge
District Court Case No. A791302

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Daniel F. Polsenberg (SBN 2376)
Joel D. Henriod (SBN 8492)
Abraham G. Smith (SBN 13,250)
Lewis Roca Rothgerber Christie Llp
3993 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169
(702) 949-8200

Attorneys for Appellant

#### **JURISDICTION**

Southwest Gas appeals from an order denying judicial review.

NRS 703.376; NRAP 3A(b)(1). The district court signed the order on

March 5, 2020, and Southwest Gas filed a premature notice of appeal on

March 25, 2020. (22 App. 5259, 5279, 5283.) Three months later, on

June 23, 2020, the clerk of the district court entered the order, and

Southwest Gas timely amended its notice of appeal on July 2, 2020. (22

App. 5307, 5327, 5331.)

#### ROUTING STATEMENT

This Court should retain the appeal to clarify that Nevada continues to recognize the consensus rule that, in a general rate application, a regulated utility enjoys a rebuttable presumption that its expenses were prudently incurred.

This, the first of Southwest Gas's issues, is a question of statewide importance, NRAP 17(a)(12), and will arise in every general rate case filed by a utility. Clarity from Nevada's highest court is needed.

#### PRINCIPAL ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. In a general rate case, is a natural gas utility entitled to a presumption of prudence in its incurred costs?
- 2. Does the constitutional facts doctrine allow *de novo* review of an agency's allegedly confiscatory rate-setting determinations?
- 3. Did the Public Utilities Commission's rejection of a presumption of prudence affect the Commission's decision to disallow certain expenses, including
  - a. 100% of the expenses associated with five work orders in which just a fraction of the claimed costs (since withdrawn) were shown to be imprudent;
  - b. Southwest Gas's actual pension expenses in 2018, to which the Commission applied a discount and 3-year "normalization" schedule?
- 4. Did the Commission set an unreasonable rate of return on equity in rejecting the recommendations of all parties and instead setting the rate far based on a self-described "zone of reasonableness" far below the average rates both for Southwest Gas's peers and the industry as a whole?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a final judgment entered on a petition for judicial review, the Honorable William Kephart, District Judge of the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, presiding. That judgment affirmed the order of the Public Utilities Commission of Nevada.

Southwest Gas filed a general rate application with the Commission seeking to adjust rates to reflect its current cost of providing safe and reliable service to its customers. The application requested, among other things, approval of work orders for five software projects, approval of pension expenses, and approval of a 10.30% rate of return on shareholder equity. The Commission held hearings on the application over six days.

In general rate cases like this one, the Commission has always applied a rebuttable presumption that a utility has exercised prudent judgment when making expenditures that it later seeks to recover from the ratepayers. In this case, however, the Commission abandoned that presumption and—after Southwest Gas had prepared its case in reliance on that presumption—required Southwest Gas to present evidence

to establish the prudence of its expenditures, even when no party had challenged the expense.

So even though no party had objected to more than 50% of the software project expenses, and no party presented evidence supporting any disallowance of the expenses, the Commission disallowed 100% of the expenses because Southwest Gas purportedly did not prove that it was prudent to incur them. For two of the software projects, the objector only challenged expenses totaling one-half of one percent of the total cost, yet the Commission disallowed all of the expenses.

The Commission also used the average of the prior three years of Southwest Gas's pension costs, instead of using the actual 2018 pension costs, which were not challenged by any party. The Commission had never done that before. And the Commission adopted a lower discount rate for the pension expenses than Southwest Gas requested because Southwest Gas did not present evidence to support its proposed discount rate, which had not been questioned.

The Commission also selected a rate of return on investment that was lower than any party requested, and nearly a full percentage point

percent lower than the return on investment enjoyed by similarly situated gas utilities.

Southwest Gas petitioned for reconsideration, but the Commission reaffirmed these aspects of its order. Southwest Gas timely sought judicial review in the district court, which denied judicial review. The district court believed that substantial evidence supported the Commission's decision and that applying a presumption of prudence would be unfair. (22 App. 5311, 5321.)

Southwest Gas now appeals to this Court.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

### A. Based on Past Practice, Southwest Gas Asks the Commission to Increase Rates

In 2018, Southwest Gas Corporation filed a general rate application with the Public Utilities Commission of Nevada. (1 App. 10; 2 App. 376.) The application asked for permission to increase its retail natural gas utility service rates by about 3.8% in Southern Nevada and 1.9% in Northern Nevada. (2 App. 376.) It also sought to reset its gas infrastructure rate. (4 App. 940, 1 ROA 303.) These changes reflected increases in the cost of service over the six years since Southwest Gas's last general

rate case and for projects previously approved by the Commission. (4 App. 940, 1 ROA 303.) The Regulatory Operations Staff of the Commission and the Attorney General's Bureau of Consumer Protection participated in the proceedings. (4 App. 940–41, 1 ROA 303-04.)

Southwest Gas, staff, and the bureau filed prepared direct testimony. Southwest Gas filed prepared rebuttal testimony. (4 App. 942, 1 ROA 305.) The Commission held six days of hearings in October 2018. (4 App. 942, 1 ROA 305.)

#### B. The Commission's Order

The Commission issued its original order on December 23, 2018.

Both Southwest Gas and Staff petitioned for reconsideration and clarification. On February 15, 2019, the Commission granted reconsideration in part and entered a modified order.

Southwest Gas and Staff were satisfied with the Commission's resolution of many of the issues in the 277-page order. Below are the points of dispute remaining on appeal.

## 1. The Commission Changes Course, Denying a Presumption of Prudence

The Commission concluded that Southwest Gas is not entitled to a presumption of prudence in its expenses because no such presumption exists under Nevada law. (*Id.* at 309-312, 592-99.) Accordingly, the Commission found that Southwest Gas had the burden to affirmatively prove the prudence of each expenditure for which it sought recovery. (*Id.* at 309-312, 592-99.) One of Southwest Gas's witnesses testified that she had worked on general rate applications for over 20 years and had always presented them in the way the Company did in this case. (11 App. 2649, 2676-82, 5 ROA 3852, 3879-85.) The Company had never before been required to produce the volume of information that was demanded in this case to justify the prudence of Southwest Gas's incurred costs. (*Id.*)

Nobody explained before the hearing why the information Southwest Gas had provided was insufficient. (*Id.* at 2681-82, 3884-85.) The Commission's abandonment of the presumption of prudence affected the Commission's analysis of (1) work orders for five software projects that cost \$51 million; and (2) pension expenses.

#### 2. Challenged Work Orders

Staff and the Bureau challenged five work orders associated with Southwest Gas's software upgrades:

- Financial System Modernization Program (FSM). This replaced Southwest Gas's 1986 accounting system and is integral to all financial and accounting processes at Southwest Gas. (13 App. 3234-35, 8 ROA at 6473-74; 13 App. 3066-67, 7 ROA at 5970-71.)
- Field Operations Management System (FOMS) Phase 1. This customer-service software automates and optimizes field-related activities and increases labor efficiencies for dispatch and customer service related field operations. The software generates work orders sent to technicians for customer service. (13 App. 3241, 8 ROA at 6480; 13 App. 3079, 7 ROA at 5983.)
- FOMS Phase II. This software designs, tracks, and schedules gas facility installations. It includes an asset-management database that tracks leak surveys, patrols, and other pipeline safety activities. Construction and safety recordkeeping

- form the core of Southwest Gas's operations. (13 App. 3243, 8 ROA at 6482; 13 App. 3083-84, 7 ROA at 5987-88.)
- Geographic Information System Mapping Migration Project.
   This replaced a system in use since the late 1980s. (13 App. 3244-47, 8 ROA at 6483-86; 13 App. 3086, 7 ROA at 5990.)
   This software maps Southwest Gas's facilities, including the underground facilities used to provide service to Southwest Gas's customers.
- Web Content Management Phase II Project. (13 App. 3246-47, 8 ROA at 6485-86; 13 App. 3089, 7 ROA at 5993.) This software allows Southwest Gas to publish content on its website and to timely provide safety notices, outage information, and other information customers need.

There was no dispute that the outdated software needed to be replaced. (10 App. 2482, 2486, 5 ROA at 3682, 3686.) And there was no dispute that the software benefits ratepayers. (*Id.* at 1985, 2486, 3185, 3686.) No party asserted that any of the software was overpriced or

failed to perform as designed. Yet while challenging just 0.5% of the expenses, Staff requested that 50% of the software costs be disallowed. (5 App. 1133, 1 ROA at 496.)

Southwest Gas provided both direct and rebuttal testimony explaining the purpose, benefits, project structure, steering and oversight personnel, and project control. (19 App. 4635-68, 13 ROA at 11391-424.) It provided details about the rationale and justification for each of the questioned expenditures. (*Id.*; 13 App. 3066-145, 7 ROA at 5970-6049.)

Southwest Gas provided all invoices, vouchers, and costs, and Staff and the Bureau had an opportunity to ask questions about costs. (8 App. 1965-66, 1986; 11 App. 2675, 2678; 10 App. 2493, 5 ROA at 3165-66, 3186, 3878, 3881, 3693.) Southwest Gas answered all questions; nobody explained why the documents that Southwest Gas provided were insufficient to establish the reasonableness of the costs. (*Id.* at 2680-81, 3883-84.)

Staff's witness questioned whether Southwest Gas had evaluated alternative vendors and considered the cost to ratepayers. (*Id.* at 2482-

83, 3682-83.) But he admitted that Southwest Gas had defined the programs, discussed the need for replacement, provided a roadmap for the replacement, and discussed key roles and team structures. (*Id.* at 2483, 3683.) Staff's witness said that Southwest Gas *might have* spent too much on the projects and that they lacked oversight, even though the FSM program came under budget by \$900,000. (*Id.* at 2487, 2078-80, 3687, 3278-80.) He didn't review similar projects for other utilities or determine what a reasonable budget would have been. (*Id.* at 2488, 3688.) He didn't speak with anyone at Southwest Gas about why they chose particular vendors. (*Id.* at 2489-90, 3689-90.) He did not testify that the budget was unreasonable; he merely believed that the costs could have been lower. (*Id.* at 2493, 3693.)

Staff's witness admitted that Southwest Gas had voluntarily removed the costs that he questioned from the case. (*Id.* at 2494, 3694.)

And he admitted that he couldn't determine if the other costs were reasonable. (*Id.* at 2494-95, 1974-75, 1979-80-, 3694-95, 3174-75, 3179-80.)

He questioned overtime, but couldn't assess whether it was necessary.

(*Id.* at 2497, 3697.) For the FOMS Phase 2 project, he didn't even identify any questionable expenses. (*Id.* at 1986, 3186.) He questioned

whether one of the software projects needed to be finished by the beginning of the year, but could not testify that Southwest Gas should have used a different timeline. (*Id.* at 2499, 3699.)

Ultimately, Staff's witness only questioned certain expenses and said that Southwest Gas had not established that they were reasonable. (*Id.* at 1972-82, 1992, 1994, 3172-82, 3192, 3194.) He admitted that he didn't have the expertise to evaluate many of the expenses he questioned. (*Id.* at 1984, 1986, 3184, 3186.) He identified one-half of 1 percent of the costs on two projects as not appropriate for cost recovery, but still asked for a 50% disallowance on the total cost of all five projects. (*Id.* at 1968-70, 1988, 1992, 3168-70, 3188, 3192.)

The Commission found that Staff failed to present evidence supporting a 50% disallowance of the software costs, yet it went further and disallowed 100% of those costs. The Commission concluded that the record showed that there was a systematic lack of accountability and oversight with respect to the work orders. (5 App. 1244, 1 ROA at 607.)

On reconsideration, the Commission maintained its ruling denying 100% of the work order costs, but it stated that this finding was separate from the Commission's denial of the presumption of prudence. (1

App. 45.) The Commission nonetheless criticized Southwest Gas for failing to produce affirmative evidence "that the costs associated with the Challenged Work Orders were prudently incurred," and considered Southwest Gas's alleged "failure" to offer that evidence dispositive. (5 App. 1244–45, 1 ROA at 607-08.) Without concluding one way or another whether Southwest Gas's costs were prudent, the Commission denied them without prejudice to Southwest Gas's right to raise the same software projects in a future general rate case for the amounts of those expenses amortized in future years. (2 App. 284-85.)

#### 3. Pensions

At the hearing, the Commission requested, without prior notice, that Southwest Gas justify a 3.75% discount rate for pensions.

Southwest Gas's witness, Christy Berger, set forth the annual pension expense and applicable discount rates used to establish those expenses, which is determined in consultation with an independent actuary. (9 App. 2104–05, 5 ROA 3304–05.) In pre-hearing written testimony, Staff did not challenge Southwest Gas's 2018 pension expenses but requested a five-year normalization that would be calculated based on the average of Southwest Gas's actual pension expenses for 2014-

2018. (13 App. 3186-89, 8 ROA at 6425-28.) Since no party had challenged the discount rates, Southwest Gas did not prepare a witness from the actuary to testify on that topic. At the hearing, however, the Commission requested, without prior notice, that Southwest Gas justify a 3.75% discount rate for pensions. (9 App. 2102–09, 5 ROA 3302–09.) The Commission took seemed to expect Ms. Berger to perform an onthe-spot analysis of how the discount rate was determined and was dissatisfied with her reliance on the expertise in the actuarial recommendation. (9 App. 2102–09, 5 ROA 3302–09.)

The Commission's order required a three-year normalization plus a downward modification to the 2018 pension expense. (5 App. 1071-74, 6 App. 1254-55, 1 ROA at 434-37, 617-18.) Despite no evidence in the record to support the downward adjustment, the Commission stated that "the corrected rate for 2018 represents a more appropriate period reflective of historical figures." (Id. at 437 ¶ 437.) It had never normalized Southwest Gas's pension expenses before. It also modified the discount rate, even though no party had raised the issue. (Id. at 434-35.)

#### 4. Return on Investment

A public utility is entitled to a rate that will earn its shareholders a reasonable return on their investment. This rate—known as the "return on equity" or the "return on investment"—is set by the Commission. Southwest Gas proposed a return on investment of 10.30%. (16 App. 3977-78, 3988, 11 ROA at 10148-49, 10159.) Staff recommended a return on investment of 9.40%. (18 App. 4265-67, 12 ROA at 10511-13.) The Bureau requested a return on investment of 9.30% in its written testimony, which it revised upward to 9.40% at the hearing. (4 App. 805, 1 ROA at 159; 18 App. 4265-67, 12 ROA at 10425-27.)

The parties all agreed upon a proxy group of gas utilities that were similar to Southwest Gas. (17 App. 4073, 11 ROA at 10313-17; 17 App. 4228-29, 12 ROA at 10446-47; 18 App. 4272, 12 ROA at 10518.)

The average return on investment for the proxy group was 10.23%. (19 App. 4572-88, 12 ROA at 10931-47.) And evidence in the record demonstrated that the broader industry-average return on investment was 9.68%. (18 App. 4458, 4291-92, 4204, 12 ROA at 10705, 10537-38, 10442.)

It was undisputed that Southwest Gas had more debt than the proxy group. (*Id.* at 10701-02, 10436-37.) And credit rating agencies rank Southwest Gas at a higher risk than all but one of the proxy group companies. (*Id.* at 10881-82.) These factors typically justify a higher return on investment.

The Commission selected a return on investment of 9.25%, lower than any other party's proposal. The Commission asserted that a return on investment "of 9.25 percent is commensurate with returns on investments in other enterprises having corresponding risks . . . ." (5 App. 1009, 1 ROA at 372.) And while the Commission provides no specific reference to the evidence it allegedly relied upon, it does not appear to reflect the evidence of authorized industry and proxy group returns, both of which had substantially higher average rates of return.

# C. Southwest Gas's Petition for Judicial Review

Southwest Gas petitioned for judicial review. After briefing, the Honorable William Kephart heard oral argument on the petition. (21 App. 5110.) On March 6, 2020, the district court issued an order denying the petition.

# 1. The District Court Applied a Deferential Standard of Review

The district court deferred to the Commission's decision, reasoning that this Court has adopted an "end result" test to determine whether Commission decisions "are just and reasonable." (22 App. 5309 (citing Pub. Serv. Comm'n v. Ely Light & Power Co., 80 Nev. 312, 322, 393 P.2d 305, 310 (1964)).)

The district court also believed that it lacked authority to alter the return on equity and to order recovery of costs that the Commission disallowed, citing the rule that "[t]he methods used by a regulatory body in establishing just and reasonable rates of return are generally considered to be outside the scope of judicial inquiry." (22 App. 5310 (citing Nev. Power Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 91 Nev. 816, 826, 544 P.2d 428, 435 (1975)).)

The district court even deferred to the Commission's legal conclusions because "when an agency's conclusions of law are closely related to its view of the facts, those conclusions are entitled to deference, and [the court] will not disturb them if they are supported by substantial evidence." (22 App. 5310–11 (quoting Fathers & Sons & A Daughter Too v.

Transp. Services Auth. of Nev., 124 Nev. 254, 259, 182 P.3d 100, 104 (2008)).)

#### 2. Presumption of Prudence

Acknowledging that the Commission "did not apply a presumption of prudence," the district court adopted the Commission's view that no such presumption exists. (22 App. 5311.) According to the Commission and the district court, no statute, regulation, or controlling decision from the U.S. Supreme Court or this Court identifies a presumption of prudence. (22 App. 5316.) The district court held that on the "one occasion" where this Court applied a presumption of prudence in a deferred energy accounting proceeding, the Nevada Legislature "nullified" it by enacting a statute prohibiting such a presumption "in such cases." (22 App. 5316.) The district court acknowledged that other jurisdictions have adopted the presumption of prudence, but the Court did not find those cases controlling. (22 App. 5316.)

The district court held that U.S. Supreme Court cases identified, at most, a presumption of "good faith of the managers of the business," such that a decision to disallow incurred costs "did not second-guess

Southwest Gas's judgment"; rather, in the absence of "sufficient evidence to sustain its burden of proof," Southwest Gas had not shown that "judgment was even exercised." (2 App. 5317 (emphasis omitted).)

The district court likewise dismissed language in *Ely Light* as indicating merely that "if a cost is reasonable and actually incurred by a utility, a regulatory commission cannot arbitrarily disallow a cost simply because it disagrees with the decision to incur the cost," but the burden remains with the utility to establish the prudence and reasonableness of its costs. (22 App. 5318.)

The district court acknowledged that AB 7, the statute overturning the presumption of prudence in deferred energy accounting proceedings, did not apply here. It nonetheless found the statute "instructive" in that a utility would have more incentive to "imprudently inflate" its capital costs recoverable in a general rate case rather than in the "purchase of natural gas" recoverable through deferred energy accounting. (22 App. 5319.)

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