#### Case No. 80911

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SOUTHWEST GAS CORPORATION,

Appellant,

V.

PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF NEVADA; AND STATE OF NEVADA BUREAU OF CONSUMER PROTECTION,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed Mar 01 2021 11:17 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court. Clark County The Honorable William Kephart, District Judge District Court Case No. A-19-791302-J

RESPONSE BRIEF

ERNEST D. FIGUEROA (SBN 6295)
MARK J. KRUEGER (SBN 7410)
WHITNEY F. DIGESTI (SBN 13012)
MICHELLE C. NEWMAN (SBN 13206)
NEVADA OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
100 North Carson Street
Carson City, Nevada 89701

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

Regardless of the "simplicity" of a DEAA case, what is important is that only a case involving passthrough costs should ever even consider applying a presumption because the PUCN arguably could presume that a utility has (at least less of) a financial motive to spend imprudently or otherwise increase spending. A policy that makes it difficult to weed out imprudent costs and investments applied to cases in which the utility is incentivized to spend more should be avoided at all costs.

# 3. Other PUCN Cases Do Not Affect the Fact that there is No Presumption of Prudence in General Rate Cases

SWG refers to two past PUCN Decisions as "proof" that a presumption has always been applied in Nevada. While these decisions did apply the presumption, they do not change the fact that there is no presumption of prudence in rate cases in Nevada because 1) there is no *stare decisis* in

administrative decisions; 2) the PUCN simply applied an incorrect standard in these two cases; and 3) there are important differences between the two decisions and the general rate case herein.

## a. <u>In Re Nevada Power (1986)</u>

In holding that a presumption of prudence applies to DEAAs in *Nevada Power*, the Court cites to a 1986 PUCN Decision: *In Re Nevada Power Co., Util. Shareholders Ass'n of Nevada*, 74 Pub. Util. Rep. 4th 703 (Nev. Pub. Serv. Comm'n May 30, 1986) ("1986 PUCN Decision"). *Nevada Power*, 122 Nev. at 834–35, 138 P.3d at 495-96. The 1986 PUCN Decision provided that the utility "enjoys a presumption that the expenses reflected in its deferred energy application were prudently incurred and taken in good faith." 9 74 Pub. Util. Rep. 4th 703 (citation omitted).

## b. There is No Stare Decisis for Administrative Decisions

The 1986 PUCN Decision is properly disregarded because it is not binding. Administrative agencies such as the PUCN in Nevada are not bound by *stare decisis*. The PUCN and this Court are not bound by PUCN decisions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Note that the 1986 PUCN Decision in no way affects the fact that the *Nevada Power* holding was narrowly tailored to apply to DEAAs and was superseded by AB 7, as discussed above.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>tiny{10}}$  See State, Dep't of Taxation v. Chrysler Group, LLC, 129 Nev. 274, 279, 300 P.3d 713, 717 at n.3 (2013) (citing Motor Cargo v. Public Service Comm'n, 108

such as the 1986 PUCN Decision, so that decision in and of itself does not bind the PUCN. *Id.* The citation of the 1986 PUCN Decision in *Nevada Power* does not change its non-binding status. Only if this Court adopted its rule (and the rule was not superseded by statute) would it be binding. NRS 1.030. As discussed above, this Court held that the presumption applied in DEAAs, and purposely did not extend such a holding to general rate cases. As such, the 1986 PUCN Decision can be disregarded as a non-binding anomaly.

## c. The Commission in the 1986 Decision Got it Wrong

The 1986 PUCN Decision should be called what it was – the 1986 PUCN incorrectly applied a presumption of prudence that did not, and does not now, exist in Nevada law. This becomes evident when the decision is read as a whole – the Commission in this case cites to NAC 703.2231 as the controlling burden of proof (the utility bears the burden), and then simultaneously states that the utility gets a presumption. *See generally* 1986 PUCN Decision. The Commission there even provides that the presumption means that the intervenors to a rate case sustain the burden of proof regarding prudence in a rate case. *Id*.

Nev. 335, 337, 830 P.2d 1328, 1330 (1992)); see also Desert Irrigation, Ltd. V. State of Nevada, 113 Nev. 1049, 1058, 944 P.2d 835, 841 (1997) ("[N]o binding effect is given to prior administrative determinations.").

This is contradictory. It is impossible, practically speaking, to simultaneously say that the utility has the burden of proof to establish that changes are reasonable but also hold that the utility does not have to present any evidence to support that the expenditures are prudent unless imprudence is proven first. This is especially true when the Commission states in the same breath that the utility "enjoys a presumption" but also the utility must file "explanatory supporting testimony" with its Application. *Id*.

While we may never know why the 1986 PUCN Decision contained a contradiction, we do know that in Nevada, the burden of proof falls on the utility and the standard of review includes that a Commission must have substantial evidence of unreasonableness to support its decisions if it is claiming an expenditure was imprudent. NAC 703.2231; see also Nevada Power, 122 Nev. at 834, 138 P.3d at 495. A presumption would create chaos in figuring out how to apply it. Lastly, the cases cited to in the 1986 PUCN Decision are both nonbinding FERC cases, which apply entirely different laws. The incorporation of the FERC cases shows that the Commission at that time applied the incorrect law in the 1986 PUCN Decision.

### d. The 1986 PUCN Decision was Not a General Rate Case

As in *Nevada Power*, the 1986 PUCN Decision was also a DEAA. This is important because *Nevada Power* cited only to a DEAA when adopting the presumption only in DEAAs. General rate cases were never involved in the *Nevada Power* decision, nor the cases to which it cited, with good reason – a presumption of prudence did not, does not, and should not exist in general rate cases.

#### 4. The 2009 Decision

While we would like to think that the 1986 PUCN Decision was the only time a rebuttable presumption was improperly applied, the PUCN improperly applied a rebuttable presumption in a rate case in 2009. *See generally Application of Nevada Power Co.*, No. 08-12002, 2009 WL 1893687 (Nev. P.U.C. June 24, 2009), *clarified on denial of reconsideration*, 08-12002, 2009 WL 2482116 (Nev. P.U.C. Aug. 10, 2009) ("2009 Decision"). SWG tries to use this case as proof that Nevada law mandates a presumption of prudence. Brief at 57. In 2009, the Commission mentioned a "rebuttable presumption that the expenses reflected in its rate applications are prudently incurred." 2009 Decision, 2009 WL 1893687, at \*75. The reasons behind the 2009 PUCN decision are unknown but the assertion is not an accurate account of the law.

Importantly, as mentioned above, there is no *stare decisis* in administrative decisions such as this one and so there is no binding effect of this erroneous decision.

Additionally, the cases in which the PUCN incorrectly mentioned a rebuttable presumption were not SWG cases. The PUCN has never applied a presumption of prudence in a SWG case. Therefore, SWG's claim that it was caught by surprise when the presumption was not applied is disingenuous because it has never been applied to SWG. Brief at 58.

Moreover, the PUCN has since made it abundantly clear to SWG that the presumption is not the law. Specifically, in the 2012 SWG general rate case, SWG raised the presumption of prudence as an issue and the PUCN provided that SWG bears the burden of showing that costs are prudently incurred. *See In re Southwest Gas Corp.*, 12-02019, 2012 WL 7170426, at ¶ 45 (Nev. P.S.C. Dec. 19, 2012). Therefore, SWG should be estopped from raising this issue now. *LaForge v. State, Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. of Nevada*, 116 Nev. 415, 419, 997 P.2d 130, 133 (2000).<sup>11</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Issue preclusion, or collateral estoppel, may be implicated when one or more of the parties to an earlier suit are involved in subsequent litigation on a different claim. Issues that were determined in the prior litigation arise in the later suit. If the common issue was actually decided and necessary to the judgment in the earlier suit, its relitigation will be precluded.

Lastly, while it is difficult to show because it is akin to proving a negative, the presumption is, as a matter of law and practice, not applied in general rate cases, as is evidenced by the fact that SWG can only cite to two PUCN cases where a presumption was improperly applied as was explained. In all other numerous rate cases before the PUCN over the years, the presumption was properly not applied, even when requested.

Cases before the PUCN unfold according to the statutes governing procedure – SWG provides evidentiary support of the prudence of its costs and requests in its application, and SWG presents first at the hearing to show reasonableness of its expenditures. The presumption of prudence is never mentioned or questioned in these cases, which is why SWG assertion that there has always been a presumption and it was abandoned in the general rate case herein is not only incorrect, but shocking.

## C. The U.S. Supreme Court Has Not Mandated a Presumption of Prudence in General Rate Cases in Nevada

#### 1. There is No Constitutional Basis in This Case

SWG agrees: "The U.S. Supreme Court, whose jurisdiction to review decisions of state regulatory commissions is limited to securing rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments—to determine "whether the action of the state officials in the totality of its consequence is consistent with the

enjoyment by the regulated utility of a revenue something higher than confiscation." Brief at 41, citing *W. Ohio Gas Co. v. Pub. Utils. Comm'n*, 294 U.S. 63, 70 (1935). The *W. Ohio Gas* Court provided:

This court does not sit as a board of revision with power to review the action of administrative agencies upon grounds unrelated to the maintenance of constitutional immunities . . . . If this level is attained, and attained with suitable opportunity through evidence and argument to challenge the result, there is no denial of due process, though the proceeding is shot through with irregularity or error.

### *Id.* (citations omitted).

Without a constitutional basis, the presumption of prudence cannot be invoked as a basis for overruling state utility regulators. Brief at 41. Whether a state applies a presumption of prudence according to the specific state laws is not a constitutional basis that would invoke the U.S. Supreme Court, and the U.S. Supreme Court has never mandated a presumption of prudence under its Constitutional jurisprudence.

## 2. SWG Failed to Meet the U.S. Supreme Court Standard for Confiscation

The U.S. Supreme Court review of state utility ratemaking decisions is invoked under the following circumstances set forth in the seminal cases, Bluefield Waterworks & Imp. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of W. Va., 262 U.S. 679

(1923) and *Duquesne Light Co. v. Barasch*, 488 U.S. 299(1989). The *Bluefield* Court held:

A public utility is entitled to such rates as will permit it to earn a return on the value of the property which it employs for the convenience of the public equal to that generally being made at the same time and in the same general part of the country on investments in other business undertakings which are attended by corresponding risks and uncertainties; but it has no constitutional right to profits such as are realized or anticipated in highly profitable enterprises or speculative ventures. The return should be reasonably sufficient to assure confidence in the financial soundness of the utility and should be adequate, under efficient and economical management, to maintain and support its credit and enable it to raise the money necessary for the proper discharge of its public duties.

Bluefield, 262 U.S. at 692.

The U.S. Supreme Court in *Duquesne* provided that whether a rate is so low as to be confiscatory depends "to some extent on what is a fair rate of return given the risks under a particular rate-setting system, and on the amount of capital upon which the investors are entitled to earn that return." *Duquesne*, 488 U.S. at 310. The *Duquesne* Court further provided that in order to make a legitimate confiscation claim, the utility must show that the reduced rate:

"[J]eopardize[d] the financial integrity of the companies, either by leaving them insufficient operating capital or by impeding their ability to raise future capital" or issued rates

"inadequate to compensate current equity holders for the risk associated with their investments under a modified prudent investment scheme."

Id. at 312 (emphasis added).

In *Duquesne*, the Court rejected the utilities arguments concerning confiscation, stating that the utility did not "[allege] that the total effect of the rate order arrived at . . . [was] unjust or unreasonable." *Id*. The Court found that the appellants' attempts to make constitutional claims based upon a "piecemeal" examination of methodologies used was flawed because "[t]he Constitution protects the utility from the net effect of the rate order on its property." *Id*.

In the case at hand, SWG's District Court Petition for Judicial Review and Brief are replete of any effort whatsoever to provide evidentiary support to satisfy the standard for making a constitutional confiscation claim per *Bluefield* and *Duquesne*. *See* Brief at 39-44. SWG provides zero evidence or argument that PUCN's Order harmed it financially. Nor does it even try to show that the rates were "inadequate to compensate current equity holders for the risk associated with their investments." *Duquesne*, 488 U.S. at 312. Instead, it provides pages worth of conclusory statements and citations to case law taken out of context. To assert a claim as serious as a confiscation,

SWG needs to at least make a plausible argument rather than a desperate plea. It cannot prevail in a constitutional claim merely by citing to case law (that does not stand for what SWG asserts it stand for) while professing that the PUCN should have applied a presumption of prudence.

SWG would fail to meet this test because the rates set by the PUCN in the underlying case did not cause financial harm to the utility, and thus, were not confiscatory. As will be demonstrated below, the PUCN's Order was based on substantial evidence and in accordance with the controlling standards, including the constitutional requirement to set non-confiscatory rates.

Moreover, there were no due process violations in the case and SWG was given ample opportunity, through evidence and argument to challenge the result. As such, there is no constitutional basis in this case that invokes the U.S. Supreme Court jurisprudence and no merit to SWG's claim that the U.S. Supreme Court mandates a presumption of prudence in Nevada general rate cases.

## 3. Ben Avon is Not the Applicable Standard of Review

As provided above in the "Standard of Review" section, the correct standard of review in appeals from Nevada general rate cases is provided in NRS 703.373(11) – the Court must not substitute its judgment for that of the

Commission on matters of fact. SWG argues that it is entitled to *de novo* review of facts and law based on its claim that the PUCN's rate-setting determinations were confiscatory.

SWG's assertions rest primarily on its flawed understanding and interpretation of *Ohio Valley Water Co. v. Borough of Ben Avon*, 253 U.S. 287, 289 (1920). The Court in *Ben Avon* provided that a utility receives *de novo* review on both law and facts under a constitutional confiscation claim. *Id.*Succeeding cases, including *Duquesne*, 12 have refined and narrowed the premise for which *Ben Avon* stood to such a degree that "the strength and substance of it has been dissipated." *New York Tel. Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 320 N.Y.S.2d 280, 285, *order modified and remanded*, 29 N.Y.2d 164 (1971). That is, *Ben Avon*, if it were to be applied in Nevada rate case appeals, would only conceivably apply in the event a valid confiscation claim was made under the *Duquesne* factors - either a showing by the utility of financial harm, or inadequacy of rates to compensate equity holders.

SWG made no attempt to satisfy this standard. Further, it failed to provide a single authority that has stated that a presumption of prudence is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See generally Fed. Power Comm'n v. Hope Nat. Gas Co., 320 U.S. 591 (1944); Fed. Power Comm'n v. Nat. Gas Pipeline Co. of Am., 315 U.S. 575 (1942).

constitutionally mandated or that the absence of a presumption of prudence in a rate case is confiscatory. SWG also failed to provide a single authority that a presumption of prudence is mandated in Nevada. As such, SWG has not raised a confiscation claim. It necessarily follows that *Ben Avon* is not applicable.

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